In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOE RODRIGUEZ, JR.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S187680

SUPREME COURT

MAR 1 5 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Third Appellate District, Case No. C060227 Yuba County Superior Court, Case No. CRF07288 The Honorable James L. Curry, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can a person who actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity be guilty of violating Penal Code¹ section 186.22, subdivision (a)—active participation in a criminal street gang—when he or she, acting alone, is the direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct?

INTRODUCTION

A jury convicted appellant of being an active participant in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (a) [hereinafter "§ 186.22(a)"] and attempted robbery (§§ 664/211), and found true the allegation that the attempted robbery was committed for the benefit of the gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1) [hereinafter "§186.22(b)(1)"]. Prior to sentencing, the trial court granted appellant's motion for a new trial pursuant to section 1181, subdivision 6 on the § 186.22(b)(1) gang allegation and the prosecutor elected not to retry the allegation. Appellant was then sentenced to state prison.

Appellant appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. Two justices of the three justice panel reversed appellant's conviction for active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22(a)), finding that the crime does not apply to an active participant in a criminal street gang ("active participant")² who is the sole perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct. In reaching their conclusion, the majority disagreed with three published court of appeal cases that had reached the opposite conclusion (*People v. Ngoun* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 432, review denied July 7, 2001, S097592 ("*Ngoun*"); *People v. Salcido* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 356, review denied

¹ All further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code.

² Throughout this brief, respondent will use the shorthand "active participant" to refer to a person who "actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity."

July 11, 2007, S152686 ("Salcido"); People v. Sanchez (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1297, 1301-1308, review denied March 10, 2010, S179000 ("Sanchez")). The dissenting justice disagreed with the majority's conclusion and believed the published cases previously addressing the issue were correctly decided.

The majority's decision should be rejected. In reaching its conclusion, the majority: treats dictum in *People v. Castenada* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743 ("*Castenada*") as binding; misreads the facts of *Castenada*; incorrectly concludes that "It makes no sense to say that a person has promoted or furthered his own criminal conduct"; and adopts an interpretation that leads to absurd results which are inconsistent with the Legislature's intent in enacting section 186.22(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, an active participant in the Norteño street gang,³ attempted to rob the victim while visiting his sister in Marysville. The facts surrounding offense, which, unless otherwise indicated, are taken from the majority's decision, are summarized as follows: On May 10, 2007, the victim, Stanley Olsen, stepped out of his truck and onto the street. He heard a person behind him say something that he did not fully hear. He turned and saw appellant, whom he did not recognize, coming up to him. Olsen asked appellant if he knew him, and appellant said, "You eye fuck me, nigger, and I'll kill you." (1 RT⁴ 138.)

³ As noted by the dissent, "there is no dispute that substantial evidence supports the conclusion [appellant] actively participated in a criminal street gang (the Norteños) with knowledge that its members engage in a pattern of criminal gang activity." (Dis. opn. of Sims, J. at pp. 2-3.)

⁴ "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript.

Olsen stood his ground and appellant came up to him so that the two men's chests were touching. Appellant then demanded money from Olson, saying "Give me your fucking money," and telling him he would "fuck [him] up." (1 RT 138.) Olson told appellant he "didn't have time for this" and said appellant "needed to get away from" him. Appellant then punched Olson in the jaw and the two men went to the ground and fought. Olson was able to get up, and appellant fled to an apartment where he was later found hiding under a bed and arrested.

During the booking process, appellant admitted he was an active member of the Norteño gang. He had the word "northern" tattooed on the back of his left triceps and the word "warrior" on his right. (1 RT 189-190, 238.) He had the letter "N" with the number "1" on one side and the number "4" tattooed on his chest, along with the phrase "Only God can judge me," an Aztec warrior, and skulls—all symbols associated with the Norteño gang. (1 RT 189, 191-193.) Across his back, he had his last name tattooed in red and black ink—his gang's colors. (1 RT 191-192, 238.) He also had red shoelaces in his shoes and was wearing a black belt. (1 RT 238, 242; 2 RT 329, 353-355.)

Two gang experts testified that robbery, among other crimes, was a primary activity of the Norteño gang, and—based on a hypothetical mirroring the facts of the case—both opined that the attempted robbery of Olson was committed for the benefit of the gang. (1 RT 196-201; 2 RT 356-364.)

A jury found appellant guilty of attempted robbery (Count 1; §§ 664/211) and being an active participant in a criminal street gang (Count 3; § 186.22(a)) and found true the allegation that the attempted robbery was

committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22(b)(1)).⁵ (1 CT⁶ 118, 127-129; maj. opn. of Blease, J.⁷ at pp. 2-3.) The court found true the allegations that appellant had suffered a prior "strike" conviction (§ 667, subds. (b)-(i) and § 1170.12, subds. (a)-(d))—specifically, a 2000 robbery conviction (§§ 211/212.5)—and had served a prior prison term (§ 667.5, subd. (b)).⁸ (1 CT 40-43, 119; maj. opn. at p. 3, fn. 3.)

Prior to sentencing, appellant retained new counsel who filed a new trial motion pursuant to section 1181, subdivision 6.9 (1 CT 145, 151-180; maj. opn. at p. 3.) In the motion, appellant made two arguments, the first of which was that "The Prosecution Failed to Prove the Gang Enhancement By Substantial Evidence." (1 CT 158-174.) Appellant argued his motion should be granted because there was insufficient evidence to support the "Criminal Street Gang' component" of the enhancement (1 CT 159-164)

When a verdict has been rendered or a finding made against the defendant, the court may, upon his application, grant a new trial, in the following cases only:

 $[\P]...[\P]$

⁵ Count 2 of the amended information charged appellant with assaulting the victim with a deadly weapon. (1 CT 41.) The court granted the prosecutor's motion to dismiss this count prior to the jury being sworn, and trial proceeded on Counts 1 and 3. (1 CT 105.)

⁶ "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript.

⁷ Further citations to the majority's opinion will be designated "maj. opn."

⁸ Appellant waived his right to a jury trial on these allegations. (1 CT 113.)

⁹ Section 1181 provides in pertinent part as follows:

^{6.} When the verdict or finding is contrary to law or evidence. . . .

¹⁰ Appellant's second argument, which is not relevant to the issue before the Court, was that: "Defendant Received Constitutionally Ineffective Assistance of Counsel." (1 CT 174-178.)

and to show that the attempted robbery was "Committed for the Benefit of, and With the Specific Intent to Promote the Gang." (1 CT 164-173.)

Appellant also argued that "The [gang] Expert's Opinion Testimony

Constituted Improper Profile Evidence Which does not Amount to

Substantial Evidence Supporting the Gang Enhancement," and concluded that "[f]or all the reasons stated, the gang enhancement finding must be set aside." (1 CT 173-174.) The prosecutor addressed these arguments in his response (1 CT 183-208), and appellant addressed the prosecutor's response in his reply (1 CT 210-215). Appellant did not move for a new trial on Count 3 (§ 186.22(a)). 12

On August 21, 2008, the motion was heard. (2 RT 500-502.) Without argument from either side, the court granted appellant's motion for new trial on the section 186.22(b)(1) gang allegation alleged with Count 1, stating that:

The Court's convinced there is insufficient evidence for that finding to stand. It's beyond a reasonable doubt that [appellant] is a member of a gang, the Norteños; that he was active. There is no evidence beyond that to support the gang enhancement. There's nothing about the crime that connects it to the activities of the gang other than the expert's statement that robbery is one of the crimes Norteños commit. The cases that I've read say there's got to be something more than gang membership and/or association.

¹¹ These are both components of the 186.22(b)(1) gang enhancement, not the substantive crime of active participation set forth in section 186.22(a). (See *People v. Martinez* (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1324, 1334.)

¹² Even if appellant's motion could somehow be construed to apply to his section 186.22(a) conviction, at no time did he argue that a new trial should be granted with regard to that count because section 186.22(a) does not apply to an active participant who, when acting alone, is the direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct.

In this case, we have no evidence that the area where the crime was committed had anything to do with gang territory, gang turf. There was speculation from the experts that maybe [appellant's] tattoos at least, in part, may have been visible, although the victim saw no tattoos. There was no gang language used during the attack. There were no gang signs. There is simply nothing beyond the fact that he is a gang member that would support that finding, and the Court will, in fact, grant [appellant's] motion for a new trial as to the gang enhancement.

(2 RT 501.) The court then asked the prosecutor whether he intended to retry the gang allegation and the prosecutor indicated he did not.¹³

¹³ In its introduction, the majority acknowledges that the trial court granted appellant's motion for new trial on the enhancement. However, in its analysis of the issue under review, it states that the trial court "dismissed the enhancement allegation for insufficient evidence." (Maj. opn. at p. 15.) The majority also states that "On appeal [appellant] contends this evidentiary hiatus also required the trial court to dismiss his conviction of the substantive, subdivision (a), criminal street gang offense for lack of substantial supporting evidence. . . . We agree." (Maj. opn. at p. 4.) It seems the majority is confusing the granting of a motion for judgment of acquittal for insufficient evidence pursuant to section 1118.1—a motion that was never made in this case—with the granting of a motion for new trial, as the granting of a new trial motion does not constitute a finding of insufficient evidence and cannot result in dismissal. (Porter v. Superior Court (2009) 47 Cal.4th 125, 132-134.) Rather, a court grants a motion for new trial when it finds the verdict is "contrary to the ... evidence." (Id. at p. 133.) "In doing so, the judge acts as a 13th juror who is a 'holdout' for acquittal. Thus, the granting of a section 1181(6) motion is the equivalent of a mistrial caused by a hung jury." (Ibid.) It is not equivalent to a finding of insufficient evidence under section 1118.1, is not an acquittal, and does not bar retrial on double jeopardy grounds. (Ibid.) Further, a court does not, and indeed cannot, "dismiss" a charge when it grants a new trial motion. Instead, it has three options. "(1) It can set aside the verdict of conviction and grant the defendant a new trial; (2) it can deny the motion and enter judgment on the verdict reached by the jury; or (3) it can modify the verdict either to a lesser degree of the crime reflected in the jury verdict or to a lesser included offense of that crime as specified by [section 1181(6)].' [Citation.]" (Ibid.)

(2 RT 501-502.) After appellant's counsel indicated she was prepared to proceed with sentencing, the court sentenced appellant to eight years and four months in state prison. (Maj. opn. at p. 3, fn. 3.) Appellant's counsel never gave any indication that she had moved for a new trial on the substantive gang count, did not ask the court why it did not rule on any such motion, and never sought a final ruling on any such motion.

On appeal, appellant claimed "The Trial Court Erred In Failing To Grant A New Trial On Count 3." (AOB¹⁴ 18-26.) In its Respondent's Brief, the People argued that by not moving for a new trial on Count 3 in the trial court, appellant had forfeited the issue.¹⁵ (RB¹⁶ 11-16.) Out of an abundance of caution, respondent also noted that appellant's claim could not fairly be construed as the separate, distinct argument that there was insufficient evidence to support the conviction, an issue entirely separate

¹⁶ "RB" refers to the People's Respondent's Brief.

^{(...}continued)

In this case, the court did not "dismiss[] the enhancement allegation for insufficient evidence." (Maj. opn. at 15.) Rather, the court, sitting as the "13th juror," was not "convinced that the charges have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt," and thus found that the jury's true finding on the enhancement was, in its opinion, contrary to the evidence. It was the prosecutor who then elected not to seek to retry the enhancement after the court granted the new trial motion. (2 RT 501-502.)

¹⁴ "AOB" refers to the Appellant's Opening Brief.

The majority misinterpreted respondent's argument in this regard. The majority construed respondent's argument to be that appellant was precluded from challenging the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his section 186.22(a) conviction because he did not move for a new trial on that charge in the trial court. (Maj. opn. at p. 12-13.) Respondent did not—and would not—make such an argument. Respondent argued that appellant's failure to seek a new trial on his section 186.22(a) conviction in the trial court precluded him on appeal from challenging the trial court's non-existent denial of the alleged motion. (RB at 11-16 [see argument heading: "Because Appellant Did Not Move For a New Trial on Count 3 Below, the Court Did Not, and Indeed Could Not, Err in Denying Such a Motion."].)

and apart—and analyzed under different standards—from whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the alleged new trial motion. (RB 16-18.) In his reply brief, appellant confirmed that his argument was what he said it was—that the trial court had abused its discretion when it denied his alleged new trial motion on Count 3—and acknowledged that his trial counsel had done "a very poor job of presenting the issue." (ARB¹⁷ 1-2.)

Despite the foregoing, the court of appeal construed appellant's argument to be that there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction because a person cannot be guilty of violating section 186.22(a) unless they aid and abet felonious criminal conduct committed by another gang member. As will be discussed in more detail *post*, the two justice

¹⁷ "ARB" refers to the Appellant's Reply Brief.

¹⁸ The court of appeal construed appellant's argument as follows: "Defendant contends the trial court should have dismissed his conviction of the substantive gang offense defined by section 186.22, subdivision (a), for insufficiency of the evidence to show that he participated in a felony with other gang members." (Maj. opn. at 14.) In rejecting respondent's "argument" that appellant had not even raised a sufficiency of the evidence claim in his opening brief—something appellant confirmed he had not done in his reply brief—the court of appeal stated that "[Appellant] clearly argues that the trial court should have 'dismissed the charge' for insufficient evidence." (Maj. opn. at 13-14.) The opinion appears to quote from sub-heading "C" of appellant's opening brief in which he stated, "The Court Should Have Granted a New Trial on Count III and Dismissed the Charge[.]" (AOB 22.) The court of appeal suggests the phrase "Dismissed the Charge" in this heading "suffices to apprise us of [appellant's] contention and his analysis of the evidence adduced at trial." (Maj. opn. at 14.) The court of appeal reached this conclusion despite the fact that appellant: did not move for entry of judgment of acquittal for insufficient evidence pursuant to section 1118.1 on the substantive gang count; never moved for a new trial on the substantive gang count; argued in his new trial motion that there was insufficient evidence to support elements of the gang enhancement that are not contained in the substantive gang crime; did not argue in either his new trial motion or his opening brief that section 186.22(a) cannot be violated when an active participant, acting alone, is the (continued...)

majority agreed with their interpretation of appellant's "argument," finding that the crime does not apply to an active participant who is the sole perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct.

In reaching their conclusion, the majority found that *Ngoun*, *supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th 432, *Salcido*, *supra*, 149 Cal.App.4th 356, and *Sanchez*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th 1297, 1301-1308, were all wrongly decided. In so doing, the majority concluded that *Castenada*—a case in which this Court addressed the meaning of the phrase "actively participates" in section 186.22(a)—had correctly interpreted the language in section 186.22(a) to mean that one must aid and abet felonious criminal conduct in order to be guilty of violating the section. It found that the court in *Ngoun* "wholly misse[d]... the grammar of the statute" in its analysis, and opined that the CALCRIM drafters erred in amending CALCRIM No. 1400 to include liability for those who directly commit a felony. The majority based its conclusion on a literal, plural reading of the word "members[,]" finding that the statute "requires perforce that there be more than one participant[,]" and stating that "[i]t makes no sense to say that a person has promoted or furthered his own criminal conduct." (Maj. opn. at p. 5.)

In addition, faced with the facts in *Castenada*, which involved two coperpetrators committing a robbery in concert, and in seeming contradiction

^{(...}continued)

direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct; did not once cite to *Castenada*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th 743, the case the majority twice characterized as "the leading case" on the issue (maj. opn. at 4, 18); did not cite to *Sanchez*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th 1297, 1301-1308; did not mention that *Sanchez*, *Ngoun*, *supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th 432, and *Salcido*, *supra*, 149 Cal.App.4th 356, had all rejected the argument that an active participant could not be guilty of violating section 186.22(a) when acting alone; and made no mention of *Ngoun*, *Salcido*, and *Sanchez* being incorrectly decided.

¹⁹ A phrase not at issue here.

to its conclusion that section 186.22(a) only applies to aiders and abettors, the majority found "that perpetrators may come within the language of section 186.22(a)." (Maj. opn. at p. 21.) This is true, the majority concluded, because the facts of "Castenada do[] not rule out perpetrators who act in criminal conduct with other gang members[,]" and because "[t]he dividing line between actual perpetrator and the aider and abettor is often blurred." (Maj. opn. at pp. 21-22.)

The dissent disagreed with the majority's conclusion, pointing out that:

By insisting on the literal, plural definition of "members," the majority would preclude a conviction for active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22(a)) where the leader of the Norteños, acting entirely alone, got into his car and drove into Sureño territory, shot and killed several Sureños, and pinned notes to their shirts reading, "Norteños Rule."

(Dis. opn. of Sims, J.²⁰ at pp. 5-6.) The dissent stated:

In light of the purposes of the Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act, quoted above, I cannot believe the Legislature intended such an absurd result. "We must . . . give the [statutory] provision a reasonable and commonsense interpretation consistent with the apparent purpose and intention of the lawmakers, practical rather than technical in nature, which upon application will result in wise policy rather than mischief or absurdity. [Citation.]" [Citations.]

(Dis. opn. at p. 6.) The dissent argued that the word "members" should not be given its literal, plural meaning, pointing out that:

Section 7 provides in pertinent part, "Words used in [the [Penal Code] [sic] in the present tense include the future as well as the present . . . the singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular" Subdivision 16 of section 7 further counsels that "Words and phrases must be construed according

 $^{^{20}}$ Further citations to the dissent's opinion will be designated as "dis. opn."

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