IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) Supreme Court No.		
- CALIFORNIA,) S187680		
Plaintiff and Respondent,)		
- -) Court of Appeal No.		
V.) F057147 SUPREME COUR	Т	
) FILED	•	
JOE RODRIGUEZ, JR.,) Superior Court No.		
Defendant and Appellant.) CRF07288 (CRC) MAY 1 7 2011		
) (0.25(0))		
•		lei	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Court of Appeal, Third Appe	ellate District Deputy		
Yuba County Superior Court, Honorable James L. Curry, Judge			

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Diane Nichols State Bar No. 174830 P.O. Box 2194 Grass Valley CA 95945 530-477-8448 dianelnichols@aol.com

Attorney for Defendant And Appellant Joe Rodriguez, Jr.

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

SECTION 186.22(A) DOES NOT APPLY TO AN ACTIVE PARTICIPANT WHO, ACTING ALONE, IS THE DIRECT PERPETRATOR OF FELONIOUS CRIMINAL CONDUCT.

A. Introduction, Proceedings Below, And Standard Of Review.

Section 186.22, subdivision (a) (hereafter "§ 186.22(a)" or "gang participation") punishes "[a]ny person who actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang" Specifically at issue here is the meaning of the italicized phrase "willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang."

Appellant was convicted in Count 1 of robbery with an enhancement that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b) (hereafter "§ 186.22(b)" or "gang-benefit enhancement"). (1 CT 118, 127; 2 RT 468.) In Count 3, appellant was also convicted of the substantive offense of active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22(a)), based on the robbery offense. (1 CT 118, 128; 2 RT 468.) The trial court granted appellant's motion for a new trial on the gang-benefit enhancement as to Count 1, and the prosecution elected not to retry the

allegation. (1 CT 242.) On appeal, appellant maintained that the evidence the trial court found lacking when it granted a new trial on the gang-benefit enhancement -- no substantial evidence connecting the robbery to the gang -- was also insufficient to sustain a conviction of the substantive gang participation offense.⁴ (Typed opn., p. 14; Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") 18-26.)

The constitutional sufficiency of the issue was indeed raised below. Appellant plainly raised the issue of whether appellant promoted felonious criminal conduct on two grounds: first, that the trial court erred in denying the new trial motion and, second, that there was constitutionally insufficient evidence under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution (AOB 21-22, citing *People v. Steele* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1230, 1249-1250 [constitutional challenge to sufficiency of the evidence]; *People v. Kraft* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978, 1053 [same, citing *People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 578]; *People v. Bolin* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 297, 331 [same, citing *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319-320 [99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560]]). Appellant requested reversal with no retrial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, the remedy for an appellate reversal on grounds of evidentiary insufficiency. (AOB 26, citing *Burks v. United States* (1978) 437 U.S. 1, 17-18 [98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1].) Contrary to respondent's earlier claim, a defendant does not waive his right to a

⁴Respondent confined its arguments to procedural forfeiture and did not address the merits of appellant's substantive claims on appeal. (Typed opn., p. 13, fn. 7; Respondent's Brief ("RB") 11-18.) Respondent did not petition for review on this issue and, in this Court, respondent has merely referenced its forfeiture argument historically, in footnotes in the Statement of the Case (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits ("RBOM") 7, fn. 15, 8-9, fn. 18), has not argued the matter in its Summary of Argument or Argument sections, and has not cited any legal authority in support of argument, all of which indicate respondent has abandoned this issue. (Evans v. CenterStone Development Co. (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 151, 160 [court need not consider issues discussed only in a footnote]; In re Keisha T. (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 220, 237, fn. 7 ["We interpret this casual treatment as reflecting . . . lack of reliance on this argument"]; Atchley v. City of Fresno (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 635, 647 [point asserted without argument or authority need not be discussed by reviewing court].)

The Court of Appeal concluded that there was constitutionally insufficient evidence to support the gang participation offense. (Typed opn., p. 14.) It held that section 186.22(a) imposes criminal liability for active participation in a criminal street gang only where the defendant is aiding and abetting a felony offense committed by the gang's members. (Typed opn., p. 6, citing *People v. Castenada* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743, 752 ("Castenada").) The court found the phrase "promot[ing], further[ing], or assist[ing] in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang" requires that the perpetrator aid and abet a specific felony by other members of his gang, which requires perforce that there be more than one participant. (Typed opn., p. 5.)

Respondent argues that the Court of Appeal's decision is wrong because the opinion treats as binding this Court's statements in Castenada, supra, 23 Cal.4th 743, it misreads the facts of Castenada, it incorrectly concludes that a person cannot promote or further his own criminal conduct, and it leads to absurd results, while maintaining respondent's

judgment of acquittal on the basis of evidentiary insufficiency by moving for a new trial. (*Ibid.*; see also *People v. Rodriguez* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 253, 262 [most complete challenge to sufficiency is demand for trial].) Where "the reviewing court has found the evidence legally insufficient, the only 'just' remedy available for that court is the direction of a judgment of acquittal" based on the Double Jeopardy Clause. (Burks v. United States, supra, 437 U.S. at p. 18; People v. Pierce (1979) 24 Cal.3d 199, 210 [insufficient evidence tantamount to verdict of acquittal, where retrial would be barred, so new trial also improper after equivalent decision on appeal].)

position is consistent with the legislative intent. (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits ("RBOM") 12-13, 14.) Respondent contends the phrase at issue is applicable to an active gang participant "when he or she, acting alone, is the direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct." (RBOM 14, citing People v. Ngoun (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 432 ("Ngoun"), People v. Salcido (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 356 ("Salcido"), and People v. Sanchez ("Sanchez") (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1297.5) Respondent never provides its actual construction of the phrase, but does offer three broad applications of it. First, respondent argues it is applicable to an active gang participant "when he or she, acting alone, is the direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct." (RBOM 14.) Second, respondent indicates that "an active participant who is the sole perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct -- or who acts in concert with either a gang member or a non-gang member -- is guilty of violating section 186.22(a)." (RBOM 25.) Third, respondent also argues section 186.22(a) applies to:

the direct perpetrator; the aider or abettor; the accessory after the fact [citation]; and to the member who promoted or furthered 'felonious criminal conduct' -- rather than a specific felony -- by telling active participants to generally put in work for the gang (i.e., to commit crimes for the gang), but who would not be an aider or abettor to any specific felony committed by the active participants because he or she would neither know what specific crimes the active participants

⁵Respondent also relies upon *People v. Cabrera* (S189414) formerly at 191 Cal.App.4th 276 (RBOM 12, 27-29), review granted March 23, 2011, after respondent filed its brief, with briefing deferred pending resolution of the instant case. This case can no longer be cited.

were going to commit nor have the specific intent to aid or abet those particular crimes. (RBOM 45-46.)

None of these applications is proper, as will be explained, and respondent's position is wrong, as is its criticism of the Court of Appeal's decision.

Where the meaning of a statute is at issue, a reviewing court applies an independent standard of review. (*People v. Jones* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 98, 108.) Issues of statutory construction are subject to de novo review. (*California Teachers Assn. v. San Diego Community College Dist.* (1981) 28 Cal.3d 692, 699.) While a reviewing court does not rewrite legislation to conform to a presumed intent (*California Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified School Dist.* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 633), the primary purpose of statutory construction is a determination and effectuation of the purpose of the law as enacted. (*People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.) Further canons of statutory construction will be set forth where appropriate.

B. Section 186.22(a) Imposes Criminal Liability For An Active Participant In A Criminal Street Gang Only When The Defendant Aids Or Abets A Felony By Other Members Of His Gang.

The California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act of 1988 ("STEP Act"; §§ 186.20-186.33) created both substantive offenses and sentence enhancements for gang-related activity. (Sen. Bill No. 1555 (1987-1988 Reg. Sess.) Stats. 1988 ch. 1256; Assem. Bill No. 2013 (1987-

1988 Reg. Sess.) Stats. 1988 ch. 1242.⁶) Section 186.22(b) applied a conduct enhancement to an underlying substantive offense, when the offense was committed for the benefit of the gang ("gang-benefit enhancement") and will be discussed, *post*. Section 186.22(a) established the substantive offense of active participation in a criminal street gang ("gang participation") and provides:

Any person who actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for a period not to exceed one year, or by imprisonment in the state prison for 16 months, or two or three years. (§ 186.22(a), emphasis added.)

The italicized portion of section 186.22(a) is at issue here, specifically, whether one "who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang" encompasses an active gang participant in a criminal street gang who acts alone as the direct perpetrator of felonious criminal conduct. A direct perpetrator, acting alone, cannot commit a gang participation offense because the plain

⁶Two almost identical bills (Assem. Bill No. 2013 and Sen. Bill No. 1555) resulted in the STEP Act, with the major difference between the two bills being Senate Bill No. 1555's inclusion of civil forfeiture proceedings. (Sen. Bill No. 1555, Leg. Counsel's Rep. to Governor on Enrolled Bill, dated September 28, 1988 [sic].) When two statutes dealing with the same subject conflict, the most recently enacted one expresses the Legislature's will and governs any conflicts between the two. (*In re Thierry S.* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 727, 744; Gov. Code, § 9605.) Both bills were signed by the governor on September 23, 1988, and the provisions of Senate Bill No. 1555, the later chaptered bill, controls where conflicts exist.

language of the statute requires the defendant aid and abet a specific felony by a member of his gang, a construction supported by case law, the language of aiding and abetting law, and legislative intent.

In construing a statute, a reviewing court ascertains and effectuates the Legislature's intent. (*People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 54-55 ("*Albillar*"); *People v. Loeun* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 8-9 ("*Loeun*").)

Respondent has not proffered its understanding of the legislative intent behind section 186.22(a). Section 186.21, which introduces section 186.22 and other gang-related provisions as a whole, acknowledges the danger to public order and safety posed by criminal street gangs, stating in pertinent part:

It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this chapter to seek the eradication of criminal activity by street gangs by focusing upon patterns of criminal gang activity and upon the organized nature of criminal street gangs, which together, are the chief source of terror created by street gangs. (§ 186.21.)

Specifically, section 186.22(a) "created a substantive offense for active participation in a criminal street gang; before its enactment, no law authorized the punishment of a gang member for gang membership irrespective of the punishment imposed upon the principal for the gang crime itself." (*Ngoun*, *supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 435, citing *In re Alberto R.* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1309, 1318.) This Court has found that section 186.22(a) "target[s] the scourge of gang members committing any crimes *together* and not merely those that are gang related" (*Albillar*, *supra*, 51

Cal.4th at pp. 55-56, original emphasis omitted, emphasis added), which comports with the legislative intent both to respond to the increasing criminal street gang violence throughout the state and to concentrate on the group nature of criminal street gangs. Thus, the intent behind section 186.22(a) is to punish active gang participants committing crimes with other gang members. This intent does not clarify whether the Legislature intended to punish direct perpetrators acting alone as gang participants. Further intent must be ascertained from the statutory language.

The statutory language is the most reliable indicator of the Legislature's intent because it is the language of the statute itself that has successfully braved the legislative gauntlet. (*Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc.* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238.) This Court looks to the words of the statute, giving them their usual and ordinary meanings, in context. (*Castenada, supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 747; *Albillar, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 55.) If there is no ambiguity in the language, the plain meaning controls. (*Ibid.*) If the statutory language is susceptible to more than one reasonable construction, the reviewing court can look to legislative history to assist in ascertaining legislative intent. (*People v. Robles* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1111.)

"Ambiguity exists when a statute is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more different senses." (2A Singer & Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction (7th ed. 2007) § 45:2,

The problem of ambiguity, p. 13; see also *Coburn v. Sievert* (2005) 133

Cal.App.4th 1483, 1495.) None of the appellate courts which have looked at section 186.22(a), including the Court of Appeal here, have found the phrase at issue ambiguous, nor does respondent contend it is. Appellant agrees the language is straightforward and susceptible of only one meaning, that accorded it by the Court of Appeal in the instant case.

The plain language of section 186.22(a) should be afforded its plain meaning. It is helpful to look first at parts of the phrase at issue -- "who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang . . . " -- to see how this Court or other courts have thus far construed its meaning. "[A]ny felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang" has been judicially construed. The "felonious criminal conduct" must be the commission of, or attempted commission of, a specific felony. (People v. Green (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 692, 704 ("Green"), overruled on other grounds in Castenada, supra, 23 Cal.4th 743; see CALCRIM No. 1400 ["Felonious criminal conduct means committing or attempting to commit [any of] the following crime[s]: <insert felony or felonies by gang members that the defendant is alleged to have furthered, assisted, promoted or directly committed>.) In Green, supra, 227 Cal.App.3d 692, the court found the conduct must be "clearly felonious" conduct to eliminate doubts as to its constitutionality, stating that, if the phrase:

means commission of an offense amounting to a felony, it contains superfluous language. If, however, it contemplates something less than the commission of an offense amounting to a felony, it makes criminal the promotion, furtherance or assistance of conduct, which is not itself criminal. Such a construction would impinge on protected conduct. (*Id.* at p. 704.)

The conduct that is promoted, furthered, or assisted, then, must be a "separate" and "specific felony offense committed by gang members." (*Castenada*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 749; see *id.* at p. 752 [finding § 186.22(a) accords with due process because of its "plainly worded requirements -- criminal knowledge, willful promotion of *a felony*, and active participation in a criminal street gang"], emphasis added; see also *Lamas*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 524 [actual conduct promoted must be a felony, not a misdemeanor under § 12031(a)(1) elevated to a felony by operation of § 186.22(a)].) Thus, based on the requirement that the "felonious criminal conduct" be a specific felony, "felonious criminal conduct is not the "pattern of gang activity" described in section 186.22, subdivision (f), i.e., the commission of two or more enumerated predicate offenses.

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